ERIE INDEMNITY CO Form 10-Q May 02, 2007

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-O

QUARTERLY REPORT PERSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarter ended March 31, 2007 Commission file number 0-24000 ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

PENNSYLVANIA 25-0466020

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

100 Erie Insurance Place, Erie, Pennsylvania 16530

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(814) 870-2000

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Not applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes \flat No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \flat No o Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer b Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o No b

The number of shares outstanding of Class A Common Stock, with no par value and a stated value of \$.0292 per share was 57,340,743 at April 25, 2007.

The number of shares outstanding of Class B Common Stock with no par value and a stated value of \$70 per share was 2,571 at April 25, 2007.

The common stock is the only class of stock the Registrant is presently authorized to issue.

INDEX ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006

Consolidated Statements of Operations Three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements March 31, 2007

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Item 6. Exhibits

SIGNATURES

EX-10.91

EX-31.1

EX-31.2

EX-32

2

Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

	March 31, 2007 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2006
ASSETS		
INVESTMENTS		
Fixed maturities at fair value (amortized cost of \$828,079 and \$830,061,		
respectively)	\$ 836,323	\$ 836,738
Equity securities at fair value (cost of \$228,425 and \$223,210, respectively)	254,970	250,647
Limited partnerships (cost of \$210,916 and \$200,166, respectively)	249,401	230,946
Real estate mortgage loans	4,685	4,726
Total investments	1,345,379	1,323,057
Cash and cash equivalents	10,578	60,241
Accrued investment income	12,000	11,374
Premiums receivable from policyholders	242,280	247,187
Federal income taxes recoverable	0	9,092
Reinsurance recoverable from Erie Insurance Exchange on unpaid losses	850,744	872,388
Ceded unearned premiums to Erie Insurance Exchange	114,452	114,148
Note receivable from Erie Family Life Insurance	25,000	25,000
Other receivables due from Erie Insurance Exchange and affiliates	193,622	208,522
Reinsurance recoverable from non-affiliates	2,104	2,097
Deferred policy acquisition costs	15,956	16,197
Equity in Erie Family Life Insurance	59,033	57,162
Securities lending collateral	30,467	22,784
Pension plan asset	4,783	7,108
Other assets	73,947	63,004
Total assets	\$2,980,345	\$3,039,361
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued) (Dollars in thousands, except share data)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY	March 31, 2007 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2006
LIABILITIES		
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses	\$1,048,909	\$1,073,570
Unearned premiums	418,949	424,282
Commissions payable and accrued	129,434	126,077
Agent bonuses	20,646	90,556
Securities lending collateral	30,467	22,784
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	43,520	41,723
Deferred executive compensation	23,811	29,713
Federal income taxes payable	7,602	0
Deferred income taxes	17,808	8,343
Dividends payable	23,152	23,265
Employee benefit obligations	34,824	37,200
Total liabilities	1,799,122	1,877,513
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY Capital stock: Class A common, stated value \$.0292 per share; authorized 74,996,930 shares; issued 68,224,800 shares; 57,493,790 and 57,776,329 shares outstanding, respectively Class B common, convertible at a rate of 2,400 Class A shares for one	1,990	1,990
Class B share, stated value \$70 per share; and 2,573 shares authorized, issued and outstanding	180	180
Additional paid-in capital	7,830	7,830
Accumulated other comprehensive income	6,660	5,422
Retained earnings	1,651,865	1,618,656
Total contributed capital and retained earnings	1,668,525	1,634,078
Treasury stock, at cost, 10,731,010 and 10,448,471 shares, respectively	(487,302)	(472,230)
Total shareholders equity	1,181,223	1,161,848
Total liabilities and shareholders equity	\$2,980,345	\$3,039,361
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

		Three months ex 2007	ended March 31, 2006		
OPERATING REVENUE					
Management fee revenue, net	\$	216,020	\$	220,102	
Premiums earned		51,974		54,026	
Service agreement revenue		7,418		7,592	
Total operating revenue		275,412		281,720	
OPERATING EXPENSES					
Cost of management operations		179,886		183,154	
Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred		32,234		30,053	
Policy acquisition and other underwriting expenses		11,995		14,501	
Total operating expenses		224,115		227,708	
INVESTMENT INCOME UNAFFILIATED					
Investment income, net of expenses		13,978		15,000	
Net realized gains on investments		1,890		784	
Equity in earnings of limited partnerships		12,518		4,142	
Total investment income unaffiliated		28,386		19,926	
Income before income taxes and equity in earnings of Erie Family Life					
Insurance		79,683		73,938	
Provision for income taxes		24,592		25,077	
Equity in earnings of Erie Family Life Insurance, net of tax		1,270		605	
Net income	\$	56,361	\$	49,466	
Net income per share					
Class A common stock basic	\$	0.97	\$	0.81	
Class A common stock diluted	·	0.88	,	0.73	
Class B common stock basic and diluted		149.01		121.08	
Weighted average shares outstanding basic					
Class A common stock		57,691,289		60,630,395	
Class B common stock		2,573		2,833	
Weighted average shares outstanding diluted		,		ŕ	
Class A common stock		63,906,458		67,505,125	
Class B common stock		2,573		2,833	
Dividends declared per share:					
Class A common stock	\$	0.40	\$	0.36	

Class B common stock 60.00 54.00

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

5

Table of Contents

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED) (In thousands)

	Three mon	ths ended March 31,
	2007	2006
Net income	\$ 56,361	\$ 49,466
Gross unrealized gains (losses) arising during period	3,794	(9,361)
Reclassification adjustment for gross gains included in net income	(1,890)	(784)
Unrealized holding gains (losses) excluding realized gains, gross	1,904	(10,145)
Income tax (expense) benefit related to unrealized gains (losses)	(666)	3,552
Change in other comprehensive income, net of tax	1,238	(6,593)
Comprehensive income	\$ 57,599	\$ 42,873
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.		
6		

Table of Contents

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (In thousands)

	Tl	hree months 6	ended N	March 31, 2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES		2007		2000
Management fee received	\$	223,952	\$	197,898
Service agreement fee received		7,818		7,292
Premiums collected		50,165		51,558
Settlement of commutation received from Exchange		6,782		1,710
Net investment income received		13,577		15,884
Limited partnership distributions		15,776		9,446
Dividends received from Erie Family Life Insurance		0		450
Salaries and wages paid		(27,831)		(26,374)
Employee benefits paid		(11,947)		(1,634)
Commissions paid to agents		(105,999)		(107,674)
Agent bonuses paid		(91,403)		(71,544)
General operating expenses paid		(33,401)		(33,371)
Losses paid		(30,895)		(29,984)
Loss adjustment expenses paid		(4,326)		(2,777)
Other underwriting and acquisition costs paid		(2,106)		(4,363)
Income taxes recovered (paid)		1,077		(12)
A /		•		. ,
Net cash provided by operating activities		11,239		6,505
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES Purchase of investments:				
Fixed maturities		(57,681)		(65,088)
Equity securities		(23,381)		(33,750)
Limited partnerships		(24,131)		(31,089)
Sales/maturities of investments:		(, - ,		(- ,,
Fixed maturity sales		31,504		73,346
Fixed maturity calls/maturities		25,992		25,010
Equity securities		23,267		62,982
Return on limited partnerships		2,849		3,735
Purchase of property and equipment		(753)		(1,979)
Net distributions on agent loans		(231)		(1,339)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities		(22,565)		31,828
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES				
Purchase of treasury stock		(15,072)		(40,695)
Dividends paid to shareholders		(23,265)		(22,172)
Increase (decrease) in collateral from securities lending		3,721		(4,085)
Redemption of securities lending collateral		(3,721)		4,085

Edgar Filing: ERIE INDEMNITY CO - Form 10-Q

Net cash used in financing activities	(38,337)	(62,867)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	(49,663) 60,241	(24,534) 31,666
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 10,578	\$ 7,132
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements, which include the accounts of Erie Indemnity Company and our wholly owned property/casualty insurance subsidiaries, Erie Insurance Company (EIC), Erie Insurance Company of New York (EINY) and Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company (EIPC), have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three-month period ended March 31, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2007. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2007.

NOTE 2 RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Financial Accounting Standard (FAS) 159 *The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities*. FAS 159 allows us the option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value at our discretion. FAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. We decided not to elect the fair value measurement option during the early adoption period, however, we are currently evaluating certain assets for the election of fair value measurement as of January 1, 2008.

We adopted FASB Interpretation (FIN) 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, at the beginning of 2007. FIN 48 provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the financial statement impact of income tax positions taken or expected to be taken in an income tax return. Our evaluation identified two income tax positions that would be considered uncertain under this guidance. As a result of adoption, we recognized a liability for current income taxes payable and a temporary tax difference that, when considered net, had no impact on our financial position. Interest related to these positions amounted to \$0.8 million and was recorded as income tax expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations with the accrued obligation in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the quarter. The Company s open tax years subject to IRS examination are 2003 through 2006. Tax years 2003 and 2004 are currently being examined by the IRS.

8

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 3 RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts previously reported in the 2006 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period s presentation. Such reclassifications did not impact earnings or total shareholders equity.

NOTE 4 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are calculated under the two-class method, which allocates earnings to each class of stock based on its dividend rights. Class B shares are convertible into Class A shares at a conversion ratio of 2,400 to 1. Class A diluted earnings per share are calculated under the if-converted method which reflects the conversion of Class B shares and the effect of potentially dilutive outstanding employee stock-based awards under the long-term incentive plan and awards not yet vested related to the outside directors—stock compensation plan. A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in the basic and diluted per-share computations is presented below for each class of common stock:

	Three Months Ended March 31						
		2007 2006					
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)	Allocated Net Income (Numerator)	Weighted Shares (Denominator)	Per-Share Amount	Allocated Net Income (Numerator)	Weighted Shares (Denominator)	Per-Share Amount	
Class A Basic EPS: Income available to Class A stockholders	\$55,978	57,691,289	\$ 0.97	\$49,124	60,630,395	\$ 0.81	
Dilutive effect of stock awards	0	39,969		0	75,530		
Assumed conversion of Class B shares	383	6,175,200		342	6,799,200		
Class A Diluted EPS: Income available to Class A stockholders on Class A equivalent shares	\$56,361	63,906,458	\$ 0.88	\$49,466	67,505,125	\$ 0.73	
Class B Basic and Diluted EPS: Income available to Class B stockholders	\$ 383	2,573 9	\$149.01	\$ 342	2,833	\$121.08	

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 4 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

Included in the restricted stock awards not yet vested are awards of 37,716 and 73,471 for the first quarter of 2007 and 2006, respectively, related to our pre-2004 long-term incentive plan for executive and senior management. Awards not yet vested related to the outside directors stock compensation plan were 2,253 and 2,059 for the first quarters of 2007 and 2006, respectively.

NOTE 5 INVESTMENTS

Fixed maturities and equity securities

Fixed maturities consist of bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stock. Equity securities include common and nonredeemable preferred stock. Fixed maturities and equity securities are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred tax, reflected in shareholders equity in accumulated other comprehensive income.

10

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) NOTE 5 INVESTMENTS (Continued)

The following tables summarize the cost and market value of available-for-sale securities:

(in thousands)	Amortized cost	March 3 Gross ur gains		Estimated fair value
Fired metanities				
Fixed maturities U.S. treasuries and government agencies	\$ 4,343	\$ 165	\$ 22	\$ 4,486
Municipal securities	330,483	2,594	1,600	331,477
Foreign government	2,000	9	0	2,009
U.S. corporate debt	353,875	6,056	2,215	357,716
Foreign corporate debt	87,532	2,499	384	89,647
Mortgage-backed securities	13,437	428	73	13,792
Asset-backed securities	16,185	34	37	16,182
risset sucked securities	10,103	31	3,	10,102
Total bonds	807,855	11,785	4,331	815,309
Redeemable preferred stock	20,224	890	100	21,014
•				
Total fixed maturities	\$828,079	\$12,675	\$4,431	\$836,323
Equity securities				
U.S. common stock	\$ 72,276	\$16,659	\$ 857	\$ 88,078
Foreign common stock	23,383	5,261	231	28,413
U.S. nonredeemable preferred stock	127,636	5,599	327	132,908
Foreign nonredeemable preferred stock	5,130	441	0	5,571
Total equity securities	\$228,425	\$27,960	\$1,415	\$254,970
		December	31, 2006	
	Amortized	Gross ur	realized	Estimated
(in thousands)	cost	gains	losses	fair value
Fixed maturities	¢ 2.765	Φ 150	¢ 45	¢ 2.970
U.S. treasuries and government agencies	\$ 3,765	\$ 159	\$ 45	\$ 3,879
Municipal securities	330,239	2,935	1,561	331,613
Foreign government	2,000	9 5.754	2 106	2,009
U.S. corporate debt	357,177	5,754	3,196	359,735
Foreign corporate debt	82,929	2,166	563	84,532
Mortgage-backed securities Asset-backed securities	14,611	405	295	14,721
Asset-backed securities	18,117	37	64	18,090
Total bonds	808,838	11,465	5,724	814,579
Redeemable preferred stock	21,223	1,036	100	22,159
	, -	,		,
Total fixed maturities	\$830,061	\$12,501	\$5,824	\$836,738

Edgar Filing: ERIE INDEMNITY CO - Form 10-Q

•	• 4	• . •	
$H_{i}\Omega$	mitv	securities	:
ĽU	uity	SCCULTUC	3

Equity securities				
U.S. common stock	\$ 71,932	\$17,156	\$ 785	\$ 88,303
Foreign common stock	23,106	5,897	60	28,943
U.S. nonredeemable preferred stock	123,042	5,378	565	127,855
Foreign nonredeemable preferred stock	5,130	416	0	5,546
Total equity securities	\$223,210	\$28,847	\$1,410	\$250,647
	11			

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 5 INVESTMENTS (Continued)

When a decline in the value of an investment is considered to be other-than-temporary by management, the investment is written down to net estimated realizable value. Investment impairments are evaluated on an individual security basis. Adjustments to the carrying value of marketable equity securities and fixed maturities that are considered impaired are recorded as realized losses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The components of net realized gains on investments as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations are included below. Impairment charges for the three months ended March 31, 2007 include securities primarily in the finance and freight industries. Impairment charges on securities were primarily in the media and consumer products industries in the first quarter of 2006.

	7	Three months en 31,	nree months ended March 31,	
(in thousands)		2007	2006	
Fixed maturities:				
Gross realized gains	\$	316	\$ 978	
Gross realized losses		(109)	(691)	
Impairment charges		(246)	(942)	
Net realized losses		(39)	(655)	
Equity securities:				
Gross realized gains		3,333	4,227	
Gross realized losses		(997)	(1,668)	
Impairment charges		(407)	(1,120)	
Net realized gains		1,929	1,439	
Net realized gains on investments	\$	1,890	\$ 784	
	12			

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) NOTE 5 INVESTMENTS (Continued)

<u>Limited partnerships</u>

Total real estate

39

117,411

Our limited partnerships are classified into three primary categories based upon the unique investment characteristic of each: real estate, private equity and mezzanine debt. At March 31, 2007 our equity in earnings from these partnerships as reported on the Consolidated Statements of Operations totaled 15.7% of our pre-tax income. While we do not exert significant influence over any of these partnerships, it is because we account for them under the equity method of accounting that we are providing summarized financial information in the following table for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. Amounts provided in the recorded by partnerships section of the table are presented using the latest available financial statements received from the partnerships.

Equity Recorded by Erie Indemnity Company as of March 31, 2007

as of March 31, 2007 Recorded by Partnerships

Net

Valuation income

Number

rie Indemnity Company of Asset adjustment (loss) Total Valuation Newnership interest partnerships recorded recorded assets adjustments

(dellars in the year de)

	Number	[
Erie Indemnity Company		Asset	adjustment recorded	(loss)	Total	Valuation	Net income
ownership interest	partnersm	ps recorded	recorded	recorded	assets	adjustments	(loss)
				(dollars i	n thousands)		
Private equity:							
Less than 10%	36	\$ 77,726	\$ 706	\$3,474	\$19,484,458	\$3,542,150	\$2,503,460
Greater than or equal to							
10% but less than 50%	7	11,201	294	99	420,644	73,753	6,814
Greater than or equal to							
50%	1	2,965	0	(34)	9,225	0	(103)
		04.000	4 000	2.720	10.011.00=	2 64 7 000	2 510 151
Total private equity	44	91,892	1,000	3,539	19,914,327	3,615,903	2,510,171
Mezzanine debt:							
Less than 10%	13	27,160	928	128	3,484,177	137,909	189,718
Greater than or equal to	13	27,100	920	120	3,404,177	137,909	109,710
10% but less than 50%	3	7,718	(496)	924	351,368	(1,680)	48,365
Greater than or equal to	3	7,710	(490)	924	331,306	(1,000)	46,303
50%	1	5,220	0	0	41,958	(357)	2,615
3070	1	3,220	V	Ü	11,550	(331)	2,013
Total mezzanine debt	17	40,098	432	1,052	3,877,503	135,872	240,698
		-,		,	- , ,	,	-,
Real estate:							
Less than 10%	22	76,533	5,347	631	18,687,647	1,360,604	264,039
Greater than or equal to							
10% but less than 50%	9	22,573	447	(196)	1,310,590	(2,412)	25,836
Greater than or equal to							
50%	8	18,305	0	266	265,659	0	11,275

Table of Contents 17

701

20,263,896

1,358,192

301,150

5,794

Total limited partnerships 100 \$249,401 \$7,226 \$5,292 \$44,055,726 \$5,109,967 \$3,052,019

13

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) NOTE 5 INVESTMENTS (Continued)

			orded by Erie Company December 31,	_	Recorded by Partnerships			
	Number		v aiuation	HICOHIC				
Erie Indemnity Company ownership interest	of	Asset ps recorded	adjustment recorded	(loss) recorded	Total assets	Valuation adjustments	Net income (loss)	
				(dollars in	thousands)			
Private equity:								
Less than 10%	38	\$ 71,216	\$ 8,386	\$ 9,237	\$17,976,053	\$1,655,077	\$1,976,202	
Greater than or equal to 10% but less than 50%	6	8,453	(149)	1,240	351,278	26,755	7,844	
Greater than or equal to								
50%	1	2,795	0	(49)	5,992	0	(150)	
Total private equity	45	82,464	8,237	10,428	18,333,323	1,681,832	1,983,896	
Mezzanine debt:								
Less than 10% Greater than or equal to	13	26,250	169	3,988	3,239,894	49,383	132,642	
10% but less than 50%	3	7,799	505	357	336,363	17,496	14,074	
Greater than or equal to 50%	1	5,722	(76)	524	41,958	(357)	2,615	
Total mezzanine debt	17	39,771	598	4,869	3,618,215	66,522	149,331	
Real estate:								
Less than 10%	22	67,840	5,882	9,284	16,832,702	299,053	281,569	
Greater than or equal to 10% but less than 50%	10	36,590	1,127	1,377	1,053,175	(4,299)	19,244	
Greater than or equal to 50%	7	4,281	0	(36)	244,242	0	1,032	
Total real estate	39	108,711	7,009	10,625	18,130,119	294,754	301,845	

Securities Lending Program

Total limited partnerships

101

\$230,946

We have loaned securities, included as part of our invested assets, with a market value of \$29.5 million and \$22.1 million at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. We receive marketable securities as collateral for the loaned securities. We recognize the receipt of the collateral held by the third party custodian and the obligation to return the collateral on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The proceeds from the collateral are invested in cash and short-term investments. We share a portion of the interest earned on lent securities with the third

\$25,922

\$40,081,657

\$2,043,108

\$2,435,072

\$15,844

party custodian and the borrowing institution.

14

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 6 SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL STATEMENT INFORMATION OF AFFILIATE

EFL is an affiliated Pennsylvania-domiciled life insurance company operating in 10 states and the District of Columbia. We own 21.6% of Erie Family Life Insurance Company s (EFL) outstanding common shares and account for this investment using the equity method of accounting. The remaining 78.4% of EFL is owned by the Erie Insurance Exchange.

During the second quarter of 2006, the Exchange completed its tender offer and following short-form merger for all of the publicly held outstanding common stock of EFL excluding the shares owned by us. The Exchange acquired all publicly held EFL common stock at \$32.00 per share, increasing its ownership percentage from 53.5% to 78.4% of the outstanding common stock of EFL. The aggregate consideration paid by the Exchange for the outstanding EFL shares was \$75.2 million. Our 21.6% stake in EFL was unaffected by this transaction.

The following represents unaudited condensed financial statement information for EFL on a GAAP basis:

		Three months ended March			
(in thousands)		2007	2006		
Revenues		\$40,575	\$ 37,050		
Benefits and expenses		32,105	32,427		
Income before income taxes		8,470	4,623		
Net income		6,315	3,279		
Comprehensive income (loss)		8,680	(11,460)		
Dividends paid to shareholders		0	2,079		
		As	of		
		March 31,	December 31,		
(in thousands)		2007	2006		
Investments		\$1,521,031	\$1,488,846		
Total assets		1,748,676	1,737,353		
Liabilities		1,475,737	1,473,094		
Accumulated other comprehensive income		6,648	4,283		
Total shareholders equity		272,939	264,259		
	15				

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 7 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The liabilities for the plans described in this note are presented in total for all employees of the Group. The gross liability for the pension and retiree health benefit plans is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as employee benefit obligations. A portion of annual expenses related to the pension and retiree health benefit plans are allocated to related entities within the Group.

Our pension plans consist of: 1) a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees, 2) an unfunded supplemental employee retirement plan (SERP) for executive and senior management and 3) an unfunded pension plan (discontinued in 1997) for certain outside directors.

Effective May 1, 2006, our retiree health benefit plan, which previously provided retiree health benefits in the form of medical and pharmacy health plans, was curtailed by an amendment that restricted eligibility to those who attain age 60 and 15 years of service on or before July 1, 2010. A one-time curtailment benefit was recognized in the second quarter of 2006 as a result of this amendment.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

			Retiree	Healtl	1
	Pension	Benefits	Ben	efits	
	Three mor	nths ended	Three months en		ded
	Marc	ch 31	March 31		
(in thousands)	2007	2006	2007	2	006
Service cost	\$ 3,575	\$ 4,107	\$ 25	\$	374
Interest cost	4,175	4,110	150		286
Expected return on plan assets	(5,100)	(4,629)			
Amortization of prior service cost	100	114	(50)		(32)
Amortization of net loss	350	1,205	25		107
Net periodic benefit cost	\$ 3,100	\$ 4,907	\$ 150	\$	735

The decrease in the net periodic benefit cost of the pension plans is due to a change in discount rate to 6.25% for 2007 compared to 5.75% in 2006. The decrease in the net periodic benefit cost of the retiree health benefit plan reflects the curtailment of the plan in the second quarter of 2006 which is being phased out through 2010.

NOTE 8 NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM ERIE FAMILY LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

We are due \$25 million from EFL in the form of a surplus note. The note may be repaid only out of unassigned surplus of EFL and repayment is subject to prior approval by the Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioner. The note bears an annual interest rate of 6.70% and is payable on demand on or after December 31, 2018. EFL accrued interest, payable semi-annually to us, of \$0.4 million in each of the first quarters ended March 31, 2007 and 2006.

16

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 9 STATUTORY INFORMATION

Cash and securities with carrying values of \$9.6 million and \$5.7 million were deposited by our property and casualty insurance subsidiaries with regulatory authorities under statutory requirements at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.

NOTE 10 SUPPLEMENTARY DATA ON CASH FLOWS

A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is as follows:

	Three months ended Mar				
Cash flows from operating activities	31,				
(Dollars in thousands)		2007		2006	
Net income	\$	56,361	\$	49,466	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:					
Depreciation and amortization		7,902		8,988	
Deferred income tax benefit (expense)		9,070		(521)	
Realized gain on investments		(1,890)		(784)	
Equity in earnings of limited partnerships		(12,518)		(4,142)	
Net amortization of bond premium		545		747	
Undistributed earnings of Erie Family Life Insurance		(1,366)		(201)	
Deferred compensation		(5,901)		159	
Limited partnership distributions		15,776		9,446	
Decrease in receivables and reinsurance recoverable from the Exchange and					
affiliates		40,514		5,760	
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets		(15,295)		(11,103)	
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses		17,945		31,314	
Decrease in accrued agent bonuses		(69,910)		(49,150)	
Decrease in loss reserves		(24,661)		(22,334)	
Decrease in unearned premiums		(5,333)		(11,140)	
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$	11,239	\$	6,505	

17

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We have contractual commitments to invest up to \$203.3 million additional funds in limited partnership investments at March 31, 2007. These commitments will be funded as required by the partnerships agreements through 2012. At March 31, 2007, the total commitment to fund limited partnerships that invest in private equity securities is \$79.9 million, real estate activities is \$82.8 million and mezzanine debt securities is \$40.6 million. We expect to have sufficient cash flows not only from operations but also from cash inflows (distributions) from existing limited partnership investments, which have typically been strong in our experience, to meet these partnership commitments. We are involved in litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the effects, if any, of such litigation are not expected to be material to our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 12 VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY

The Exchange is a reciprocal insurance company, domiciled in Pennsylvania, for which we serve as attorney-in-fact. We hold a variable interest in the Exchange, however, we are not the primary beneficiary as defined under Financial Accounting Standards Interpretation 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. We have a significant interest in the financial condition of the Exchange because net management fee revenues are based on the direct written premiums of the Exchange and the other members of the Property and Casualty Group.

The selected financial data below is derived from the Exchange s financial statements prepared in accordance with Statutory Accounting Principles (SAP) required by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) *Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual*, as modified to include prescribed practices of the Insurance Department of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation, have been included. The condensed financial data set forth below represents the Exchange s share of underwriting results after accounting for intercompany pooling transactions.

Erie Insurance Exchange Condensed Statutory Statements of Operations

	Three months ended March					
		3	1,			
(in thousands)		2007		2006		
Premiums earned	\$	889,551	\$	928,408		
Losses, loss adjustment expenses and other underwriting expenses*		794,427		793,147		
Net underwriting gain		95,124		135,261		
Total investment income		136,646		126,006		
Net income before federal income tax		231,770		261,267		
Federal income tax expense		71,992		89,020		
Net income	\$	159,778	\$	172,247		

Includes
 management
 fees paid or
 accrued as
 payable to the
 Company.

Table of Contents 24

accrued as

18

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 12 VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY (Continued)

Erie Insurance Exchange

Condensed Statutory Statements of Financial Position

	A	s of	
	March 31,	De	ecember 31,
(in thousands)	2007		2006
Fixed maturities	\$4,396,413	\$	4,376,322
Equity securities	2,899,197		2,855,044
Alternative investments	1,204,669		1,120,674
Other invested assets	155,281		142,615
Total invested assets	8,655,560		8,494,655
Other assets	1,024,599		1,021,489
Total assets	\$ 9,680,159	\$	9,516,144
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves	3,509,787		3,562,682
Unearned premium reserves	1,421,788		1,430,683
Accrued liabilities	495,048		435,683
Total liabilities	5,426,623		5,429,048
Total policyholders surplus	4,253,536		4,087,096
Total liabilities and policyholders surplus	\$ 9,680,159	\$	9,516,144
Erie Insurance Exchange Condensed Statutory Statements of Cash Flows			
		nonth arch	ns ended
(in thousands)	2007	arcii	2006
			2000
	2007		
Cash flows from operating activities			\$ 902.662
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance	\$ 881,697)	\$ 902,662 (480,245)
Cash flows from operating activities			\$ 902,662 (480,245) (356,085)
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid	\$ 881,697 (498,225))	(480,245)
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid Management fee and expenses paid	\$ 881,697 (498,225 (343,701)	(480,245) (356,085)
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid Management fee and expenses paid Net investment income received	\$ 881,697 (498,225 (343,701 100,354)	(480,245) (356,085) 81,496
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid Management fee and expenses paid Net investment income received Federal income taxes and other expenses recovered	\$ 881,697 (498,225 (343,701 100,354 (38,388)	(480,245) (356,085) 81,496 46,773
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid Management fee and expenses paid Net investment income received Federal income taxes and other expenses recovered Net cash provided by operating activities	\$ 881,697 (498,225 (343,701 100,354 (38,388 101,737))	(480,245) (356,085) 81,496 46,773 194,601
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid Management fee and expenses paid Net investment income received Federal income taxes and other expenses recovered Net cash provided by operating activities Net cash used in investing activities	\$ 881,697 (498,225 (343,701 100,354 (38,388 101,737))	(480,245) (356,085) 81,496 46,773 194,601 (74,441)
Cash flows from operating activities Premiums collected net of reinsurance Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid Management fee and expenses paid Net investment income received Federal income taxes and other expenses recovered Net cash provided by operating activities Net cash used in investing activities Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	\$ 881,697 (498,225 (343,701 100,354 (38,388 101,737 (73,835 (15,785))	(480,245) (356,085) 81,496 46,773 194,601 (74,441) 56,789

Cash and cash equivalents-end of period

\$ 97,901

\$ 476,109

19

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 13 SEGMENT INFORMATION

We operate our business as three reportable segments—management operations, insurance underwriting operations and investment operations. Accounting policies for segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies Note 3 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2007, with the exception of the management fee revenues received from the property/casualty insurance subsidiaries. These revenues are not eliminated in the segment detail that follows as management bases its decisions on the segment presentation. Summarized financial information for our operating segments is presented below:

20

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) NOTE 13 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

	Three months ende 31,			
(in thousands)		2007		2006
Management Operations				
Operating revenue				
Management fee revenue	\$	228,645	\$	232,935
Service agreement revenue		7,418		7,592
Total operating revenue		236,063		240,527
Cost of management operations		190,385		193,825
Income before income taxes	\$	45,678	\$	46,702
Net income from management operations**	\$	30,741	\$	30,862
Insurance Underwriting Operations				
Operating revenue				
Premiums earned:				
Personal lines	\$	35,800	\$	37,259
Commercial lines		16,220		16,843
Reinsurance nonaffiliates		(46)		(76)
		(10)		(, ,)
Total premiums earned		51,974		54,026
		,		,
Operating expenses				
Losses and expenses:				
Personal lines		30,831		31,885
Commercial lines		14,867		13,823
Reinsurance nonaffiliates		657		863
Reinsurance affiliates*		0		145
Total lasses and averages		16 255		46 716
Total losses and expenses		46,355		46,716
In come hafare in come tower	Φ	<i>5</i> (10	¢	7.210
Income before income taxes	\$	5,619	\$	7,310
NT-4 '	ф	2.792	¢	4.021
Net income from insurance underwriting operations**	\$	3,782	\$	4,831
Investment Operations				
Investment Operations		10.050		4.5.000
Investment income, net of expenses	\$	13,978	\$	15,000
Net realized gains on investments		1,890		784
Equity in earnings of limited partnerships		12,518		4,142
Total investment income-unaffiliated	\$	28,386	\$	19,926

Net income from investment operations**	\$ 19,104	\$ 13,168
Equity in earnings of EFL, net of tax	\$ 1,270	\$ 605

The excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement was not renewed for the 2006 or 2007 accident year and as a result, there were no premiums paid by the Erie Insurance Company or Erie Insurance Company of New York to the Exchange. No charges were recorded in the first quarter 2007 due to the absence of triggering events for the years 2002 to 2005, which remain open on the agreement.

** Our estimated 2007 annual effective tax rate of 32.7% was used to calculate the net income for each operating segment. The effective tax rate being reflected on the Consolidated Statement of Operations is

lower than our

estimated annual effective tax rate. This is due to 1) an estimated IRS audit adjustment for the 2003 and 2004 tax years that reduced taxes by \$.4 million, 2) a \$2.1 million reduction for an adjustment to taxes on salvage and subrogation recoverable and 3) estimated interest on our uncertain income tax positions that increased our taxes by \$0.8 million in accordance with FIN 48.

21

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 13 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues and operating expenses to the Consolidated Statements of Operations is as follows:

	Three months en			ended March		
		3	1			
(in thousands)		2007		2006		
Segment revenues, excluding investment operations	\$	288,037	\$	294,553		
Elimination of intersegment management fee revenues		(12,625)		(12,833)		
Total operating revenues	\$	275,412	\$	281,720		
Segment operating expenses Elimination of intersegment management fee revenue	\$	236,740 (12,625)	\$	240,541 (12,833)		
Total operating expenses	\$	224,115	\$	227,708		

The intersegment revenues and expenses that are eliminated in the Consolidated Statements of Operations relate to our property/casualty insurance subsidiaries 5.5% share of the intersegment management fees paid to us.

22

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 13 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The growth rate of policies in force, policy retention (the percentage of policyholders eligible for renewals who have renewed their policies measured on a twelve-month rolling basis) and average premium per policy trends directly impact our management operations and insurance underwriting operating segments. Below is a summary of each major line of business for the Property and Casualty Group.

Growth rates of policies in force for Property and Casualty Group insurance operations:

	Private	12-mth.		12-mth.	All Other	12-mth.	Total	12-mth.
	Passenger	growth		growth	Personal	growth	Personal	growth
Date	Auto	rate	Homeowners	rate	Lines	rate	Lines	rate
12/31/2005	1,640,563	(1.8)%	1,353,912	0.5%	286,604	2.7%	3,281,079	(0.5)%
03/31/2006	1,636,048	(1.6)	1,356,885	1.0	289,964	3.6	3,282,897	(0.1)
06/30/2006	1,637,472	(1.3)	1,366,633	1.2	294,409	4.2	3,298,514	0.2
09/30/2006	1,636,947	(0.9)	1,373,763	1.4	298,361	4.6	3,309,071	0.5
12/31/2006	1,633,882	(0.4)	1,377,965	1.8	301,497	5.2	3,313,344	1.0
03/31/2007	1,635,714	0.0	1,384,856	2.1	305,591	5.4	3,326,161	1.3

		12-mth.	CML*	12-mth.		12-mth.	All Other	12-mth.	Total	12-mth.
	CML*	growth	Multi-	growth	Workers	growth	CML*	growth	CML*	growth
Date	Auto	rate	Peril	rate	Comp.	rate	Lines	rate	Lines	rate
12/31/2005	118,728	1.2%	213,347	1.8%	56,218	(4.6)%	90,227	2.7%	478,520	1.0%
03/31/2006	118,587	1.0	214,461	2.3	55,254	(4.7)	90,301	2.8	478,603	1.2
06/30/2006	119,471	0.9	217,134	2.4	54,871	(4.4)	91,568	2.9	483,044	1.3
09/30/2006	119,555	0.8	217,763	2.3	54,379	(4.4)	92,687	2.9	484,384	1.2
12/31/2006	119,801	0.9	218,542	2.4	53,923	(4.1)	92,687	2.7	484,953	1.3
03/31/2007	119,907	1.1	219,300	2.3	53,498	(3.2)	92,857	2.8	485,562	1.5

	12-mth. growth
Total All Lines	rate
3,759,599	(0.3)%
3,761,500	0.1
3,781,558	0.4
3,793,455	0.6
3,798,297	1.0
3,811,723	1.3
	3,759,599 3,761,500 3,781,558 3,793,455 3,798,297

<u>Policy retention trends for Property and Casualty Group insurance operations:</u>

	Private						
	Passenger	CML*		CML*	Workers	All Other	Total
Date	Auto	Auto	Homeowners	Multi-Peril	Comp.	Lines	All Lines
12/31/2005	90.0%	87.9%	88.2%	85.4%	86.2%	86.0%	88.6%
03/31/2006	90.1	88.0	88.6	85.9	86.0	86.2	88.8
06/30/2006	90.3	87.7	88.9	85.9	85.9	86.5	89.0
09/30/2006	90.5	87.8	89.2	86.0	85.8	86.7	89.2
12/31/2006	90.8	87.7	89.4	86.0	85.7	87.1	89.5
03/31/2007	91.0	88.0	89.7	86.1	86.2	87.2	89.7

*

CML = Commercial

23

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
NOTE 13 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Average premium per policy trends for Property and Casualty Group insurance operations:

							A	11			
	Pr	ivate	12-mth.		12-m	12-mth.		ner 1	2-mth.	Total	12-mth.
	Pass	senger	percent		perc	ent	Pers	onal p	percent	Personal	percent
Date	A	uto	change	Homeowne	ers chan	ige	Lir	ies (change	Lines	change
12/31/2005	\$1,	,174	(1.3)%	\$ 543	(0.3)	5)%	\$34	18	0.3%	\$841	(1.6)%
03/31/2006	1,	,161	(2.7)	539	(2.4	4)	34	19	0.6	832	(3.0)
06/30/2006	1,	,140	(3.9)	535	(2.0	6)	34	18	0.6	818	(3.9)
09/30/2006	1.	,122	(4.8)	530	(2.9)	9)	34	18	0.3	806	(4.7)
12/31/2006	1,	,110	(5.5)	526	(3.	1)	34	19	0.3	797	(5.2)
03/31/2007	1,	,100	(5.3)	524	(2.8	8)	34	19	0.0	791	(4.9)
	All										
		12-mth.		12-mth.	Other	12-1	mth.	Total	12-mth	. Total	12-mth.
	CML*	percent	Workers	percent	CML*	per	cent	CML*	percen	t All	percent
Date	Auto	change	Comp.	change	Lines	cha	nge	Lines	change	Lines	change
12/31/2005	\$2,781	(0.3)%	\$6,212	6.7%	\$1,705	(0.	.1)%	\$2,501	0.6%	\$1,052	(0.8)%
03/31/2006	2,778	(0.8)	6,270	4.4	1,710	(0.	.6)	2,501	(0.5)	1,044	(2.1)
06/30/2006	2,730	(1.8)	6,143	0.7	1,676	(1.	.9)	2,444	(2.4)	1,026	(3.3)
09/30/2006	2,705	(3.0)	6,047	(0.9)	1,669	(1.	.5)	2,416	(3.0)	1,011	(4.2)
12/31/2006	2,687	(3.4)	5,985	(3.7)	1,657	(2.	.8)	2,393	(4.3)	1,001	(4.8)
03/31/2007	2,664	(4.1)	5,914	(5.7)	1,641	(4.	.0)	2,365	(5.4)	991	(5.1)

^{*} CML = Commercial

24

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u>

The following information should be read in conjunction with the historical financial information and the notes thereto included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2007. Preceding the discussion of financial results is an introduction discussing the relationships between the member companies of the Erie Insurance Group. The following discussion of financial results focuses heavily on our three primary segments: management operations, insurance underwriting operations and investment operations consistent with the presentation in Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. That presentation, which management uses internally to monitor and evaluate results, is an alternative presentation of our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

The following organizational chart depicts the organization of the various entities of the Erie Insurance Group:

25

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

We serve as the attorney-in-fact for the policyholders of the Erie Insurance Exchange (Exchange), a reciprocal insurance exchange, and operate predominantly as a provider of certain management services to the Exchange. We also own subsidiaries that are property and casualty insurers. The Exchange and its property/casualty subsidiary, Flagship City Insurance Company, and our three property/casualty subsidiaries, Erie Insurance Company (EIC), Erie Insurance Company of New York (EINY) and Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company (EIPC), (collectively, the Property and Casualty Group) underwrite personal and commercial lines property and casualty insurance exclusively through over 1,800 independent agencies comprising over 8,000 licensed independent agents. The entities within the Property and Casualty Group pool their underwriting results. The financial position and results of operations of the Exchange are not consolidated with ours. We, together with the Property and Casualty Group and EFL, operate collectively as the Erie Insurance Group.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements. *OVERVIEW*

We operate under three primary segments: management operations, insurance underwriting operations and investment operations. The financial information presented herein reflects our management operations from serving as attorney-in-fact for the Exchange, our insurance underwriting results from our wholly-owned subsidiaries (EIC, EINY and EIPC) and our investment operations. The bases of calculations used for segment data are described in more detail in Item 1, Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment Results	Three months ended March 31		
	2007	2006	% Change
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)		(Unaudited)	
Income from management operations	\$45,678	\$46,702	(2.2)%
Underwriting income	5,619	7,310	(23.1)
Net revenue from investment operations	29,752	20,577	44.6
Income before income taxes	81,049	74,589	8.7
Provision for income taxes	24,688	25,123	(1.7)
Net income	\$56,361	\$49,466	13.9
Net income per share diluted	\$ 0.88	\$ 0.73	20.3%

KEY POINTS

Increase in net income per share-diluted in the first quarter of 2007 was impacted by an increase in limited partnership earnings and positive income tax adjustments.

A decline in the cost of management operations allowed margins to remain steady with 2006 at 19.4% in the first quarter of 2007.

GAAP combined ratios of the insurance underwriting operations increased to 89.2% for the quarter ended March 31, 2007 from 86.5% for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 as a result of

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

lower earned premiums and slightly higher losses of the Property and Casualty Group.

Annualized effective tax rate of 32.7% in first quarter 2007 offset by positive estimates of IRS examination settlements and an adjustment to deferred taxes related to salvage and subrogation recoverable during the quarter offset somewhat by interest expense on uncertain tax positions.

The cyclical nature of the insurance industry has a direct impact on our income from management operations as our management fee revenues are based on the direct written premium of the Property and Casualty Group. Despite our management fee rate being set at its maximum 25% in 2007, a 2.6% decrease in direct written premium of the Property and Casualty Group resulted in lower management fee revenues in the first quarter of 2007 as compared to 2006. Pricing pressures continue in the industry, primarily in private passenger auto, our most significant line of business. As anticipated, rate reductions we implemented to offer competitive prices to policyholders and segmented pricing of auto and home, that offers lower prices to better risks, are driving the reduction in direct written premium of the Property and Casualty Group. The Property and Casualty Group average premium per policy on private passenger auto declined \$10 from December 31, 2006, and \$61 from the same quarter a year ago.

Our total cost of management operations decreased 1.8% as our non-commission operating costs decreased 0.3% in the first quarter of 2007 from the first quarter of 2006. Costs were relatively flat in the first quarter 2007 due to personnel costs being down 4.8%, primarily due to a reduction in management incentive plan expense, that were offset by higher professional fees. Our revised estimate for growth in 2007 non-commission operating costs is 6% after factoring in the effects of moderating costs recorded in the first quarter 2007.

ANALYSIS OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Management Operations

	Three months ended March 31		
	2007	2006	% Change
(dollars in thousands)		(Unaudited)	
Management fee revenue	\$228,645	\$232,935	(1.8)%
Service agreement revenue	7,418	7,592	(2.3)
Total revenue from management operations	236,063	240,527	(1.9)
Cost of management operations	190,385	193,825	(1.8)
Income from management operations	\$ 45,678	\$ 46,702	(2.2)%
Gross margin	19.4%	19.4%	

KEY POINTS

The management fee rate was 25% and 24.75% in the first quarters of 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Direct written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group decreased 2.6% in the first quarter of 2007 compared to the first quarter of 2006.

27

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Policies in force grew 1.3%, or 50,223 policies, to 3,811,723 at March 31, 2007 compared to growth of 2,988 policies in the first quarter of 2006.

Year-over-year average premium per policy was \$991 and \$1,044 at March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, a decrease of 5.1%.

During the first quarter, premium rate changes resulted in a \$34.4 million decrease in written premiums.

Contributing to the decrease in service agreement revenue is the shift to the no-fee single payment plan precipitated in part by a discount in pricing offered for paid in full policies.

Commission costs decreased 2.4% and costs other than commissions decreased 0.3% in the first quarter. Scheduled rate commissions decreased \$2.2 million and estimates for Agent bonuses and other incentives decreased by \$0.9 million compared to the first quarter of 2006.

Personnel costs decreased by 4.8% to \$33.9 million in the first quarter of 2007 compared to \$35.6 million in the first quarter of 2006.

Management fee revenue

The following table presents the direct written premium of the Property & Casualty Group, shown by major line of business, and the calculation of our management fee revenue.

	Three r	nonths ended Marcl	h 31
	2007	2006	% Change
(dollars in thousands)		(Unaudited)	
Private passenger auto	\$434,705	\$448,708	(3.1)%
Homeowners	148,371	148,103	0.2
Commercial multi-peril	115,054	118,935	(3.3)
Workers compensation	91,905	98,245	(6.5)
Commercial auto	83,166	85,648	(2.9)
All other lines of business	44,977	43,129	4.3
Property and Casualty Group direct written premiums	918,178	942,768	(2.6)
Management fee rate	25.00%	24.75%	
Management fee revenue, gross Change in allowance for management fee returned on cancelled	229,545	233,335	(1.6)
policies*	(900)	(400)	NM
Management fee revenue, net of allowance	\$228,645	\$232,935	(1.8)%

NM = not meaningful

* Management fees are returned to the Exchange when policies are cancelled

mid-term and unearned premiums are refunded. We record an estimated allowance for management fees returned on mid-term policy

cancellations.

Management fee revenue is based upon the management fee rate, determined by our Board of Directors, and the direct written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group. The higher management

28

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

fee rate in 2007 of 25.0% resulted in an increase of \$2.3 million in management fee revenue, or an increase in net income per share-diluted of \$0.02. Although the mid-term cancellations of policies for the Property and Casualty Group continue to trend downward, the seasonal effects on the unearned premium reserve resulted in an increase in the allowance for management fees returned on cancelled policies. The policy retention ratio improved again to 89.7% at March 31, 2007 from 89.5% at December 31, 2006 and 88.8% at March 31, 2006.

The 2.6% decline in direct written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group was principally the result of decreases in average premium in the first quarter of 2007 despite an increase in the policies in force of 1.3%. The year-over-year average premium per policy declined 5.1% to \$991 at March 31, 2007 from \$1,044 at March 31, 2006. The Property and Casualty Group implemented rate reductions in 2005, 2006 and 2007 to be more price-competitive for potential new policyholders and to improve retention of existing policyholders. We continuously evaluate pricing and estimate that those pricing actions approved, filed and contemplated for filing could reduce the direct written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group by approximately \$79.5 million during 2007, of which approximately \$34.4 million occurred in the first quarter of 2007. Included in the \$79.5 million are approximately \$49.7 million in estimated premium reductions related to the carryover impact of pricing actions approved and effective in 2006. The most significant rate reductions effective in 2007 are in private passenger auto and homeowners in Pennsylvania, Virginia and Ohio and workers compensation and commercial multi-peril in Pennsylvania, Maryland and Virginia. In addition, segmented pricing in auto and home, where we offer lower prices to better risks, has accelerated the decline in average premium per policy.

Total year-over-year policies in force increased by 1.3% to 3,811,723 at March 31, 2007. Growth in policies in force is the result of the expansion of our independent agency force through appointments, the new business incentive on private passenger auto policies and other marketing initiatives.

Premiums generated from new business increased 5.6% to \$91.5 million from \$86.6 million in the first quarter of 2007 as compared to 2006. New business policies in force increased 3.7% to 442,313 at March 31, 2007 from 426,651 at March 31, 2006, while the year-over-year average premium per policy on new business decreased 3.3% to \$843 at March 31, 2007 from \$872 at March 31, 2006.

Premiums generated from renewal business decreased 3.4% to \$826.7 million from \$856.2 million at March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Renewal policies in force increased 1.0% to 3,369,410 from 3,334,849, while the year-over-year average premium per policy on renewal business decreased 5.2% to \$1,011 from \$1,066 for the same respective periods in 2007 and 2006. Policy retention ratios for all lines increased to a 12-month moving average of 89.7%, up slightly from 89.5% at December 31, 2006.

Personal lines - The Property and Casualty Group s personal lines new business premiums written increased 5.9% to \$58.8 million in the first quarter of 2007 from \$55.5 million in the first quarter of 2006. The year-over-year average premium per policy on personal lines new business decreased 3.3% to \$684 at March 31, 2007 from \$707 at March 31, 2006. Personal lines new policies in force increased 4.2% to 366,117 at March 31, 2007 compared to 351,496 at March 31, 2006.

The private passenger auto new business year-over-year average premium per policy decreased 4.3% to \$1,026 at March 31, 2007. Despite this rate decrease, private passenger auto new premiums written increased 9.1% to \$37.5 million during the first quarter of 2007

29

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

driven by a 7.9% increase in new business policies in force to 149,464. The Property and Casualty Group has been implementing rate reductions, of which the most significant dollar impact has been in the private passenger auto line of business in the state of Pennsylvania. Incorporated in these rate changes are reductions on certain coverages for new private passenger auto policyholders with no claims or violations. Also, in July 2006, a new incentive program that runs through December 31, 2007 was implemented to stimulate policy growth. Under the program, eligible agents receive a \$50 bonus on each new private passenger auto policy. Homeowners new business premium increased 3.8% to \$17.0 million in the first quarter of 2007. Policies in force increased 1.4% to 168,404 in the first quarter of 2007, while the year-over-year average premium per policy decreased 3.3%.

Renewal premiums written decreased 2.8% on personal lines policies during the first quarter of 2007. The overall decrease reflects the impact of the rate reductions and change in the mix by tier of personal lines business written by the Property and Casualty Group. The year-over-year policy retention ratio for private passenger auto improved to 91.0% at March 31, 2007, from 90.8% at December 31, 2006 and 90.1% at March 31, 2006.

Commercial lines - The commercial lines new business premiums written increased 5.3% to \$32.5 million in the first quarter of 2007 from \$30.9 million in the first quarter of 2006. Commercial lines new policies in force increased 1.4% to 76,196 at March 31, 2007. While new policies in force have increased, the average premium per policy on commercial lines has declined 1.9%, reflecting rate decreases and changes in the size and risk characteristics of policyholders. A more refined process of evaluating commercial accounts using predictive modeling, continues to be used to gain a better alignment between rate and risk level which should continue to improve commercial lines policy growth and profitability.

Renewal premiums for commercial lines decreased 4.8% to \$277.3 million from \$291.2 million in the first three months of 2007 as compared to 2006. Renewal policies in force have increased 1.5% to 409,366 at March 31, 2007, while the year-over-year average premium per policy on commercial lines has declined 5.9%. The year-over-year policy retention ratio for commercial multi-peril improved to 86.1% at March 31, 2007 from 85.9% at March 31, 2006. The year-over-year policy retention ratio for workers compensation improved to 86.2% at March 31, 2007 from 86.0% at March 31, 2006.

Future trends premium revenue We are continuing our efforts to grow premiums and improve our competitive position in the marketplace. Expanding the size of the agency force will contribute to future growth as new agents build up their books of business with the Property and Casualty Group. Through the first quarter of 2007, we added 38 net producing agencies, therefore at March 31, 2007, we had 1,832 producing agencies. We expect to meet our goal of appointing 200 new agencies for the year. In 2006, we appointed 139 new agencies. Agency appointments are expected to continue to help drive long term growth. We also continue to evaluate the interactions used in our pricing segmentation models and potential new product line extensions and enhancements that could be offered.

30

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

Cost of management operations

	Three months ended March 31			
	2007	2006	% Change	
(in thousands)		(Unaudited)		
Commissions	\$130,849	\$134,088	(2.4)%	
Personnel costs	33,913	35,627	(4.8)	
Survey and underwriting costs	6,285	6,073	3.5	
Sales and policy issuance costs	5,233	5,898	(11.3)	
All other operating costs	14,105	12,139	16.2	
All other non-commission expense	59,536	59,737	(0.3)	
Total cost of management operations	\$190,385	\$193,825	(1.8)%	

KEY POINTS

Included in the \$3.2 million decrease in commissions are:

normal commissions decreased \$2.2 million, or 2.0% to \$108.0 million, in the first quarter of 2007 due to lower Property and Casualty Group premium volume.

an estimate for agent bonuses and incentives that decreased \$0.9 million in the first quarter of 2007. Included in the 4.8% decrease in personnel costs are:

a decrease of \$2.4 million in the expense for management incentive plans in 2007 compared to 2006,

an offsetting increase of \$1.2 million in salaries due to higher average pay rates, and

lower pension expense of \$0.7 million.

Sales and policy issuance costs reflected a decrease as 2006 included additional costs for an agent related promotional incentive that ended in June 2006.

All other operating costs increased 16.2% driven by a \$1.8 million increase in professional fees.

31

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

Commissions - Commissions to independent agents, which are the largest component of the cost of management operations, include scheduled commissions earned by independent agents on premiums written, accelerated commissions and agent bonuses and are outlined in the following table:

	Three months ended March 31		
	2007	2006	% Change
(in thousands)		(Unaudited)	
Scheduled rate commissions	\$107,963	\$110,155	(2.0)%
Accelerated rate commissions	513	383	33.9
Agent bonuses	21,328	22,424	(4.9)
Promotional incentives	93	1,326	(93.0)
\$50 personal auto bonus	1,452		NM
Change in allowance for mid-term policy cancellations	(500)	(200)	NM
Total commissions	\$130,849	\$134,088	(2.4)%

NM = not meaningful

Scheduled and accelerated rate commissions - Scheduled rate commissions were impacted by a 2.6% decrease in the direct written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group in the first quarter of 2007 compared to the first quarter of 2006. This decrease was concentrated in the personal lines of business (comprising approximately 66% of the Property and Casualty Group s business based on direct written premiums which have lower commission rates than commercial lines of business). The decrease in scheduled rate commissions of 2.0%, when compared to the reduction in direct written premiums of 2.6%, is reflective of this mix of premium dollars.

Accelerated rate commissions increased slightly during the first quarter of 2007. Accelerated rate commissions are offered under specific circumstances to certain newly-recruited agents for their initial three years. We have been expanding our agency force as part of our growth strategy. As new agency appointments continue, accelerated commissions are expected to increase. We appointed 65 new agencies in 2005 and 139 new agencies in 2006. We appointed 66 new agencies in the first quarter of 2007, of which 38 were productive, and expect to appoint 200 for the year.

Agent bonuses Agent bonuses are based predominantly on an individual agency s property/casualty underwriting profitability over a three-year period. There is also a growth component to the bonus, paid only if the agency is profitable. The estimate for the bonus is modeled on a monthly basis using the two prior year s actual underwriting data by agency combined with the current year-to-date actual data. The decrease in the estimate for agent bonuses in the first quarter of 2007 reflects a reduction in our estimate of the profitability component of the bonus. The agent bonus award is estimated at \$80.4 million for 2007. Of this estimate, \$77.3 million represents the profitability component and \$3.1 million represents the growth component.

\$50 personal auto bonus In July 2006, an incentive program was implemented that runs through December 2007 that pays a \$50 bonus to agents for each qualifying new private passenger auto policy issued. The cost of this program for the first three months of 2007 was \$1.5 million. These incentive program costs are expected to approximate \$7.3 million for 2007.

32

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Other costs of management operations The cost of management operations excluding commission costs decreased 0.3% for the first quarter of 2007. Personnel costs, which are the second largest component in the cost of management operations, decreased 4.8%, or \$1.7 million, in the first quarter of 2007. Expense for our management incentive plans decreased \$2.4 million due to a reduction in the estimates for the management incentive plan payouts primarily attributable to lower than targeted Property and Casualty Group premium production. Offsetting this decrease was a \$1.2 million increase in salaries primarily due to a 6% increase in the average pay rate less lower staffing levels. Employee benefit costs, which are included in personnel costs, include a decrease of \$0.7 million in pension costs in the first quarter of 2007 compared to the first quarter of 2006, resulting from the change in the discount rate assumption used to calculate the pension expense from 5.75% in 2006 to 6.25% in 2007. The retiree health benefit plan net periodic cost decreased \$0.2 million in the first quarter of 2007. Due to the curtailment of the retiree health benefit plan in May 2006, annual costs for 2007 are estimated at \$0.6 million, compared to \$2.9 million for 2006, before consideration of allocations to related entities. All other operating costs increased 16.2% primarily due to a \$1.8 million increase in professional fees.

Future trends cost of management operations The competitive position of the Property and Casualty Group is based on many factors including price considerations, service levels, ease of doing business, product features and billing arrangements, among others. Pricing of Property and Casualty Group policies is directly affected by the cost structure of the Property and Casualty Group and the underlying costs of sales, underwriting and policy issuance activities performed by the Company for the Property and Casualty Group. In 2006, management worked to better align our growth in costs to the growth in premium over the long term. Our estimate for growth in non-commission operating expenses for the year 2007 is 6% after factoring in the effect of moderating costs recorded in the first quarter 2007. Much of the increase will be expended on information technology initiatives in 2007.

Insurance Underwriting Operations

Our insurance underwriting operations originate through direct business of our property/casualty insurance subsidiaries but net underwriting results are a product of the intercompany reinsurance pooling agreement between our subsidiaries and the Erie Insurance Exchange.

		Three months ende	ed March 31
	200	7 2006	% Change
(in thousands)		(Unaudit	ted)
Premiums earned	\$51,9	74 \$54,02	6 (3.8)%
Tarana and Laran disasters and amount of a second	22.2	20.05	2 7.2
Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred	32,23	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Policy acquisition and other underwriting expenses	14,12	21 16,66	$3 \qquad (15.3)$
Total losses and expenses	46,33	55 46,71	6 (0.8)
	·	·	, ,
The demonstring in some	ф <i>Б. С</i> :	10 \$ 7.21	0 (22.1)0/
Underwriting income	\$ 5,6	19 \$ 7,31	0 (23.1)%
	33		

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

KEY POINTS

- § Earned premiums of the Property and Casualty Group declined \$41 million reflecting the trend of rate decreases.
- § Development of prior accident year loss reserves continued to be favorable in the first quarter 2007, improving the loss ratio 10.3 points, or \$5.4 million, compared to an improvement of 7.9 points for the first quarter of 2006.
 - § The majority of this positive development resulted from favorable re-estimates of reserves on prior accident quarters for automobile bodily injury and uninsured/underinsured motorist bodily injury. Improvements in the accident quarter loss ratios in these lines were a result of improved frequency and severity trends.
 - § Offsetting this favorable development was a strengthening of reserves for certain workers compensation claims of which our share was \$0.4 million, or 0.8 GAAP combined ratio points.
- § We recognized certain adjusting and other liabilities of \$1.4 million, or 2.4 combined ratio points, for estimated employee salaries and benefits of the Exchange not fully considered in the reserve.
- § Policy acquisition and other underwriting costs included \$2.0 million in additional expenses, or 3.8 combined ratio points, in the first quarter of 2006 for the write-off the intangible asset related to the ERIE*Connection* system.

PROFITABILITY MEASURES

	Three months	ended March
	31	
	2007	2006
Erie Indemnity Company GAAP Loss and LAE ratio	62.0%	55.6%
Erie Indemnity Company GAAP combined ratio(1)	89.2	86.5
P&C Group statutory combined ratio	89.6	86.5
P&C Group adjusted statutory combined ratio(2)	85.5	82.3
Direct business:		
Personal lines adjusted statutory combined ratio	81.8	83.5
Commercial lines adjusted statutory combined ratio	88.7	73.6
Prior accident year reserve development redundancy	(10.3)	(7.9)
Prior year salvage and subrogation recoveries collected	(3.1)	(3.1)
Total loss ratio points from prior accident years	(13.4)%	(11.0)%

(1) The GAAP combined ratio represents the ratio of losses, loss adjustment,

acquisition and other underwriting expenses incurred to premiums earned.

(2) The adjusted statutory combined ratio removes the profit component of the management fee we earn.

34

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

Development of direct loss reserves

Our 5.5% share of the Property and Casualty Group's development of prior accident year losses, after removing the effects of salvage and subrogation recoveries, had a \$5.4 million favorable impact in the first quarter of 2007, which improved the loss ratio by 10.3 points. A majority of the improvements related to frequency and severity trends on the automobile bodily injury and uninsured/underinsured motorist bodily injury. These trends reflect results from the Claims IMPACT initiative and changes in the way these claims are settled in Pennsylvania. Overall our personal auto loss trends remain favorable, which is consistent with industry projections. In the first quarter of 2006, favorable development of prior accident year losses, removing the effects of salvage and subrogation recoveries, was \$4.3 million, primarily experienced in personal auto, homeowners and workers compensation lines of business. Severity trends were flattening in the first quarter of 2006 compared to those anticipated based on historical patterns.

Catastrophe losses

Our share of catastrophe losses as defined by the Property and Casualty Group amounted to \$0.3 million in each of the first quarters of 2007 and 2006. These catastrophe losses contributed 0.5 points and 0.6 points to the GAAP combined ratio in the first quarters of 2007 and 2006, respectively. Underwriting losses are seasonally higher in the second and fourth quarters and as a consequence, our property/casualty combined ratio generally increases as the year progresses. In the first quarter of 2007, our share of the reduction to incurred but not reported reserves related to seasonality adjustments was \$3.3 million, compared to \$2.3 million in the first quarter of 2006.

While the Property and Casualty Group did not renew the intercompany excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement for accident years 2006 and 2007, the unexpired accident years of 2001 through 2005 will be settled and losses commuted in accordance with the agreement as the 60-month periods expire. Any charges and recoveries under the agreement are recorded to our loss and loss adjustment expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Through March 31, 2007, none of the unexpired accident years have been triggered under the agreement. In the first quarter of 2007, \$6.8 million was received from the Exchange for cash settlement of the 2001 accident year, which had been commuted as of December 31, 2006. The 2006 accident year has been commuted as of December 31, 2005, with settlement of the cash payment of the \$1.7 million received from the Exchange occurring in the first quarter of 2006.

35

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

Investment Operations

	Three months ended Ma		
	2007	2006	% Change
(in thousands)		(Unaudited)	
Net investment income	\$13,978	\$15,000	(6.8)%
Net realized gains on investments	1,890	784	NM
Equity in earnings of limited partnerships	12,518	4,142	NM
Equity in earnings of EFL	1,366	651	NM
Net revenue from investment operations	\$29,752	\$20,577	44.6%

NM = not meaningful

KEY POINTS

Net investment income decreased 6.8% for the quarter as a result of lower invested asset balances due to prior period s share repurchase activity.

The net realized gains on investments in the first quarter of 2007 include \$0.7 million from impairment charges compared to \$2.0 million in the first quarter of 2006.

Equity in earnings of limited partnerships increased \$8.4 million in the first quarter of 2007 due to favorable market conditions.

Net realized gains and losses on investments included impairment charges of \$0.7 million and \$2.0 million on fixed maturity and equity securities in the first quarter of 2007 and 2006, respectively. Included in these amounts were impairment charges on equity securities of \$0.4 million and \$1.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Impairment charges on fixed maturities totaled \$0.3 million and \$0.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Private equity and mezzanine debt limited partnerships generated earnings of \$6.0 million and \$2.3 million for the quarters ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Real estate limited partnerships generated earnings of \$6.5 million and \$1.8 million in the first quarters of 2007 and 2006, respectively. Optimal market conditions resulted in a higher return on capital on mezzanine debt and private equity partnership investments by some of our more seasoned limited partnerships and appreciation of commercial properties owned by our real estate limited partnerships. *Provision for Income Taxes*

Our 2007 provision for income taxes was based on an annualized effective income tax rate of 32.7% in the first quarter of 2007. However, the first quarter 2007 provision was reduced by \$2.1 million due to a change to the deferred income tax calculation related to anticipated salvage and subrogation and an estimated \$0.4 million recoverable recorded for the Internal Revenue Service audit for the years 2003 and 2004, somewhat offset by \$0.8 million of interest expense on uncertain tax positions recorded in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes .

36

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued) FINANCIAL CONDITION

Investments

Our investment strategy takes a long-term perspective emphasizing investment quality, diversification and superior investment returns. Investments are managed on a total return approach that focuses on current income and capital appreciation. Our investment strategy also provides for liquidity to meet our short- and long-term commitments. At March 31, 2007, our investment portfolio of investment-grade bonds and preferred stock, common stock and cash and cash equivalents represents \$1.1 billion, or 35.3%, of total assets. These investments provide the liquidity we require to meet the demands on our funds.

For the three months ended March 31, 2007, we repurchased 282,539 shares of our outstanding Class A common stock at a cost of \$15.1 million in conjunction with the continuation of the stock repurchase plan. We continued to use available funds to repurchase shares thus limiting the funds available for investment operations.

Our investments are subject to certain risks, including interest rate and price risk. Our exposure to interest rates is concentrated in our fixed maturities portfolio. The fixed maturities portfolio comprises 62% and 63% of invested assets at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. We calculate the duration and convexity of the fixed maturities portfolio each month to measure the price sensitivity of the portfolio to interest rate changes. Duration measures the relative sensitivity of the fair value of an investment to changes in interest rates. Convexity measures the rate of change of duration with respect to changes in interest rates. These factors are analyzed monthly to ensure that both the duration and convexity remain in the targeted ranges established by management.

We continually review the investment portfolio to evaluate positions that might incur other-than-temporary declines in value. For all investment holdings, general economic conditions and/or conditions specifically affecting the underlying issuer or its industry, including downgrades by the major rating agencies, are considered in evaluating impairment in value. In addition to specific factors, other factors considered in our review of investment valuation are the length of time and amount the market value is below cost.

There is a presumption of impairment for common equity securities when the decline is, in management s opinion significant and of an extended duration. We consider market conditions, industry characteristics and the fundamental operating results of the issuer to determine if sufficient objective evidence exists to refute the presumption of impairment. When the presumption of impairment is confirmed, we will recognize an impairment charge to operations. Impairments are included in realized losses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For fixed maturity and preferred stock investments, we individually analyze all positions with emphasis on those that have, in management s opinion, declined significantly below cost. We consider market

37

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

conditions, industry characteristics and the fundamental operating results of the issuer to determine if the decline is due to changes in interest rates, changes relating to a decline in credit quality, or other issues affecting the investment. A charge is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for positions that have experienced other-than-temporary impairments due to credit quality or other factors, or for which it is not our intent or ability to hold the position until recovery has occurred. (See Analysis of Investment Operations section). If our policy for determining the recognition of impaired positions were different, our Consolidated Results of Operations could be significantly impacted. Management believes its investment valuation philosophy and accounting practices result in appropriate and timely measurement of value and recognition of impairment. Our portfolio of marketable equity securities, which is carried on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at estimated fair value, has exposure to price risk, the risk of potential loss in estimated fair value resulting from an adverse change in prices. We do not hedge our exposure to equity price risk inherent in our equity investments. Our objective is to earn competitive relative returns by investing in a diverse portfolio of high-quality, liquid securities. Portfolio holdings are diversified across industries and among exchange traded mid- to large-cap stocks. We measure risk by comparing the performance of the marketable equity portfolio to benchmark returns such as the S&P 500. Property/casualty loss reserves

Loss reserves are established to account for the estimated ultimate costs of loss and loss adjustment expenses for claims that have been reported but not yet settled and claims that have been incurred but not reported.

The factors which may potentially cause the greatest variation between current reserve estimates and the actual future paid amounts are: unforeseen changes in statutory or case law altering the amounts to be paid on existing claim obligations, new medical procedures and/or drugs whose cost is significantly different from that seen in the past, and claims patterns on current business that differ significantly from historical claims patterns.

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves are presented on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position on a gross basis for EIC, EINY, and EIPC, our property/casualty insurance subsidiaries that wrote about 16% of the direct property/casualty premiums of the Property and Casualty Group. Under the terms of the Property and Casualty Group s quota share and intercompany pooling arrangement, a significant portion of these reserve liabilities are recoverable. Recoverable amounts are reflected as an asset on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The direct and assumed loss and loss adjustment expense reserves by major line of business and the related amount recoverable under the intercompany pooling arrangement are presented below:

38

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

	As of			
	N	March 31,	De	cember 31,
(in thousands)		2007		2006
Gross reserve liability				
Personal lines:				
Private passenger auto	\$	355,450	\$	373,108
Catastrophic injury		188,774		196,306
Homeowners		28,742		27,224
Other personal		10,802		11,416
Commercial lines:				
Workers compensation		229,619		221,078
Commercial auto		84,596		87,202
Commercial multi-peril		73,823		73,542
Catastrophic injury		712		550
Other commercial		28,203		37,119
Reinsurance		48,188		46,025
Gross reserves		1,048,909		1,073,570
Reinsurance recoverables		852,848		874,485
Net reserve liability	\$	196,061	\$	199,085

Losses and loss adjustment expense reserves are developed using multiple estimation methods that generate point estimates. The estimate recorded is a function of detailed analysis of historical trends and actuarial and management expectations of future events and trends. The product coverage that has the greatest potential for variation is the pre-1986 automobile catastrophic injury liability reserve. The automobile no-fault law in Pennsylvania at that time provided for unlimited medical benefits. The estimation of ultimate liabilities for these claims is subject to significant judgment due to variations in claimant health and mortality over time. Because the coverage related to these claims is unique, ultimate losses are estimated on a claim-by-claim basis. An annual payment assumption is made for each claimant and then projected into the future based upon a particular assumption of future inflation rate and life expectancy of the claimant. There are currently about 300 claimants requiring lifetime medical care of which less than 100 involve catastrophic injuries.

The reserve carried by the Property and Casualty Group for the catastrophic injury claimants, which is our best estimate of this liability at this time, was \$277.0 million at March 31, 2007, which is net of \$160.3 million of anticipated reinsurance recoverables. Our property/casualty subsidiaries share of the net automobile catastrophic injury liability reserve is \$15.2 million at March 31, 2007.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

There are no off-balance sheet obligations related to the variable interest we have in the Exchange. Any liabilities between the Exchange and us are recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. We have no other material off-balance sheet obligations or guarantees.

39

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity is a measure of an entity s ability to secure enough cash to meet its contractual obligations and operating needs. We have historically generated sufficient net positive cash flow from our operations to fund our commitments and build the investment portfolio. We also maintain a high degree of liquidity in our investment portfolio in the form of readily marketable fixed maturities, equity securities and short-term investments.

Our primary sources of cash from operations are generated from our net management revenues and by collecting and investing in premiums from new and renewal business in advance of paying claims. Management fees from the Exchange represented 71.1% of our total revenues for the first quarter of 2007. Cash outflows are variable because settlement dates for claim payments vary and cannot be predicted with absolute certainty. While volatility in claims payments could be significant for the Property and Casualty Group, the effect on us of this volatility is mitigated by the intercompany reinsurance pooling arrangement. The cash flow requirements for claims have not historically been significant to our liquidity. Historically, about 50% of losses and loss adjustment expenses included in the reserve are paid out in the subsequent 12-month period and approximately 89% is paid out within a five year period. Such payments are reduced by recoveries under the intercompany reinsurance pooling agreement. We generated positive cash flows from our operating activities of \$11.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007.

Cash paid in the first three months of 2007 for agent bonuses was \$91.4 million, of which \$90.2 million was accrued

Cash paid in the first three months of 2007 for agent bonuses was \$91.4 million, of which \$90.2 million was accrued at December 31, 2006. Management fee revenues were lower in the first quarter of 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to the significant rate reductions implemented by the Property and Casualty Group. However, because the Company changed its cash settlement practices from monthly to quarterly during the second quarter of 2006, cash received from management fees in 2007 was higher than in 2006.

During the first quarter of 2007, we repurchased 282,539 shares of our outstanding Class A common stock in conjunction with the continuation of our stock repurchase plan that was authorized in February 2006. The shares were purchased at a total cost of \$15.1 million. We have \$115 million remaining under this plan authorized through December 31, 2009. (See Part II of Item 2. Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

We make estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect on the amounts and disclosures reported in the financial statements. The most significant estimates relate to valuation of investments, reserves for property/casualty insurance unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses and retirement benefits. While management believes its estimates are appropriate, the ultimate amounts may differ from estimates provided. Our most critical accounting estimates are described in Item 7, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006. There have been no significant changes to the policies surrounding these estimates since that time.

40

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

Financial condition of the Exchange

We have a direct interest in the financial condition of the Exchange because management fee revenues are based on the direct written premiums of the Exchange and the other members of the Property and Casualty Group. Additionally, we participate in the underwriting results of the Exchange through the pooling arrangement in which our insurance subsidiaries have 5.5% participation. A concentration of credit risk also exists related to the unsecured receivables due from the Exchange for certain fees, costs and reimbursements.

To the extent that the Exchange incurs underwriting losses or investment losses resulting from declines in the value of its marketable securities, the Exchange s policyholders surplus would be adversely affected. If the surplus of the Exchange were to decline significantly from its current level, the Property and Casualty Group could find it more difficult to retain its existing business and attract new business. A decline in the business of the Property and Casualty Group would have an adverse effect on the amount of the management fees we receive and the underwriting results of the Property and Casualty Group in which we have 5.5% participation. In addition, a substantial decline in the surplus of the Exchange from its current level would make it more likely that the management fee rate would be reduced. At March 31, 2007, the Exchange had \$4.3 billion in statutory surplus and a premium to surplus ratio of less than 1 to 1. We believe the Exchange s capital levels are very strong.

Additional information, including condensed statutory financial statements of the Exchange, is presented in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein.

Insurance premium rates

The changes in premiums written attributable to rate changes of the Property and Casualty Group directly affect underwriting profitability of the Property and Casualty Group, the Exchange and us and also have a direct bearing on management fees. Rate reductions have been implemented and continue to be sought in 2007 by the Property and Casualty Group to recognize improved underwriting results and to maintain price competitiveness.

Pricing actions contemplated or taken by the Property and Casualty Group are subject to various regulatory requirements of the states in which these insurers operate. The pricing actions already implemented, or to be implemented through 2007, will also have an effect on the market competitiveness of the Property and Casualty Group s insurance products. Such pricing actions, and

those of competitors, could affect the ability of our agents to sell and/or renew business. Management forecasts that pricing actions approved, filed and awaiting approval or contemplated through 2007, will reduce premium for the Property and Casualty Group by \$45 million through the remainder of the year.

The Property and Casualty Group continues refining its pricing segmentation model for private passenger auto and homeowners lines of business. The refined rating plans include significantly more pricing segments than the former plans, providing us greater flexibility in pricing for policyholders with varying degrees of risk. Refining pricing segmentation should enable us to provide more competitive rates to policyholders with varying risk characteristics, as risks can be more accurately priced over time.

The continued introduction of new pricing variables could impact retention of existing policyholders and could affect the Property and Casualty Group s ability to attract new policyholders. These outcomes will

41

Table of Contents

<u>ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS</u> (Continued)

then impact the Property and Casualty Group s premium dollars and ultimately our management fee revenue. *Policy growth*

Premium levels attributable to growth in policies in force of the Property and Casualty Group directly affect the profitability of our management operations. The continued focus on underwriting discipline and implementation of the new rate classification plan through the pricing segmentation model resulted in an initial reduction in new policy sales and policy retention ratios, as expected. In 2007, new policy sales and policy retention ratios have experienced modest but steady improvements. The growth of the policy base of the Property and Casualty Group is dependent upon its ability to retain existing and attract new policyholders. A lack of new policy growth or the inability to retain existing customers could have an adverse effect on the growth of premium levels for the Property and Casualty Group. *Catastrophe losses*

The Property and Casualty Group conducts business in 11 states and the District of Columbia, primarily in the mid-Atlantic, midwestern and southeastern portions of the United States. A substantial portion of the business is private passenger and commercial automobile, homeowners and other commercial lines of business in Ohio, Maryland, Virginia and particularly, Pennsylvania. As a result, a single catastrophe occurrence or destructive weather pattern could have a material adverse affect on the results of operations and surplus position of the members of the Property and Casualty Group. Common catastrophic events include severe winter storms, hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadoes, wind and hail storms. In its homeowners line of insurance, the Property and Casualty Group is particularly exposed to an Atlantic hurricane, which might strike the states of North Carolina, Maryland, Virginia and Pennsylvania. The Property and Casualty Group maintains catastrophe occurrence reinsurance coverage to mitigate the future potential catastrophe loss exposure.

Information technology development and costs

Management has established a program of initiatives to enhance the functionality of our legacy processing and Agency interface systems aimed at improving the ease of doing business, enhancing Agent and Employee productivity and access to information. Several of these initiatives are underway and others are in the planning or preliminary development stages. The entire cost and duration of these investments is not yet determined, but is not expected to have a material financial impact in any single period. Management is also exploring alternatives for acquisition of Agency interface and policy processing systems, but is unable to estimate the timing and cost of these efforts at this early stage of evaluation.

Erie Family Life business process outsourcing

During 2006, Erie Family Life (EFL) decided to outsource certain business processes and core information technology to an external vendor beginning in 2007. The transition of functions and technology to the external vendor is expected to be complete in the third quarter of 2007. EFL expects to incur substantial conversion costs in 2007 of which we will be impacted by our 21.6% ownership share of EFL.

42

Table of Contents

ITEM 3. OUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our exposure to market risk is primarily related to fluctuations in prices and interest rates. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk resulting from changes in prices and interest rates are included in Item 7A. in our 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in such risks or our periodic reviews of asset and liability positions during the three months ended March 31, 2007. The information contained in the investments section of Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is incorporated herein by reference.

Our objective is to earn competitive returns by investing in a diversified portfolio of securities. We are exposed to credit risk through our portfolios of fixed maturity securities, nonredeemable preferred stock, mortgage loans and to a lesser extent short-term investments. This risk is defined as the potential loss in market value resulting from adverse changes in the borrower s ability to repay the debt. We manage this risk by performing up front underwriting analysis and ongoing reviews of credit quality by position and for the fixed maturity portfolio in total. We do not hedge credit risk inherent in our fixed maturity investments.

We have significant receivables from the Exchange, which are subject to credit risk. Our results are directly related to the financial strength of the Exchange. Credit risks related to the receivables from the Exchange are evaluated periodically by management. Since our inception, we have collected all amounts due from the Exchange in a timely manner (generally within 120 days).

Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: Certain forward-looking statements contained herein involve risks and uncertainties. These statements include certain discussions relating to management fee revenue, cost of management operations, underwriting, premium and investment income volume, business strategies, profitability and business relationships and our other business activities during 2007 and beyond. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as may, should, would, intend, anticipate, believe. estimate, project, predict, potential and similar expressions. These fory plan, statements reflect our current views about future events, are based on assumptions and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause results to differ materially from those anticipated in those statements. Many of the factors that will determine future events or achievements are beyond our ability to control or predict.

Table of Contents

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We carried out an evaluation, with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective for gathering, analyzing and disclosing the information we are required to disclose in the reports it files under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. Our management evaluated, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, any change in our internal control over financial reporting and determined that there has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2007 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

44

Table of Contents

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

				Approximate Dollar Value
			Total Number of	of Shares that
	Total		Shares	of Shares that
	Number	Average Price	Purchased as Part of	May Yet Be
	of Shares	Paid Per	Publicly Announced	Purchased
Period	Purchased	Share	Plan	Under the Plan
January 1 31, 2007	48,971	\$ 54.74	46,229	
February 1 28, 2007	33,807	54.79	33,807	
March 1 31, 2007	202,503	52.78	202,503	
Total	285,281		282,539	\$ 115,000,000

The month of January 2007 includes 2,742 shares that vested under the stock compensation plan for our outside directors. Included in this amount are the vesting of 2,479 of awards previously granted and 245 dividend equivalent shares that vest as they are granted (as dividends are declared).

In February 2006, our Board of Directors approved a continuation of the stock repurchase program for an additional \$250 million authorizing repurchases through December 31, 2009.

45

Table of Contents

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION (Continued) ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number 10.91	Description of Exhibit Employment Agreement effective April 30, 2007 by and between Erie Indemnity Company and James J. Tanous
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 46

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Erie Indemnity Company

(Registrant)

Date: May 2, 2007 /s/ Jeffrey A. Ludrof

Jeffrey A. Ludrof, President & CEO

/s/ Philip A. Garcia

Philip A. Garcia, Executive Vice President & CFO 47